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1838
Land Deeded for Church Building 

Richard Dowdy deeds three acres of land for a Cumberland 
Presbyterian Church near Hickory Withe. This is the site of the 

current Mount Pleasant Cemetery on Ivy Road about two miles east 
of Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church. 

Circa 1851
Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church Built 

Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church is built on the land deeded 
by Joseph Patterson. The church is affiliated with the Presbyterian 

Church in the United States of America (PCUSA).

Circa 1841
Log Church Built 
The first church building of Mount Pleasant Cumberland Church 
is built at the current location of Mount Pleasant Cemetery. The 
original structure was a log building, later replaced by a white  
framed building. 

September 24, 1842
Macon Congregation Established 
Memphis Presbytery resolves that the Mount Pleasant 
congregation be divided, and a new church formed to be 
known as the Macon congregation.  Rueben Burrow, Jr. 
remains pastor at Hickory Withe. 

April 11, 1840
Church First Cited in Union  

Presbytery Minutes 
First mention of Mount Pleasant Cumberland Church in 
Hickory Withe is documented in the Union Presbytery 

minutes of the Cumberland Presbyterian Church. G.W. 
Fisher is listed as the representative of Mount Pleasant 

Cumberland Church.

December 28, 1834
Hickory Withe Presbyterian
Church Founded 
Prosperity Presbyterian Church is founded by Reverend Peter 
Randolph Bland and 29 believers, many originally from Prosperity, 
South Carolina. The original location was not far from Oakland.

Joy Rosser who served as Fayette County 
Historian until her death at the age of 96 on September 1, 
2022, noted that the session minutes of Prosperity Church 
are a wonderful record. They are impressive because of 
their contents, and they are the earliest session minutes in 
Fayette County that have survived or surfaced. Mrs. Rosser 
published many volumes of Fayette County history as well 
as the transcription of the Prosperity Presbyterian Church 
and Mt. Pleasant Cumberland Church Session minutes.

October 4, 1841
Rueben Burrow, Jr. Installed as Pastor 
Memphis Presbytery considers and approves Mount Pleasant 
congregation’s petition for the ordination of Rueben Burrow, Jr. to be 
pastor of the church. Union Presbytery’s name has been changed to 
Memphis Presbytery.  

 

September 30, 1848
Memphis Presbytery 
Meets in Hickory Withe
Memphis Presbytery of the Cumberland 
Presbyterian Church convenes in Hickory Withe. 
Reverend Samuel Dennis is listed in the Presbytery 
minutes as pastor of Mount Pleasant Church.

November 10, 1855
Additional Land  
Deeded to Church
William P. Dowdy deeds a tract of land 
to James H. Ivy, deducting one acre for 
the benefit of Mount Pleasant Church 
at the site of Mount Pleasant Cemetery. 
This acre in addition to the three acres 
deeded in 1838 comprise the current 
acreage of Mount Pleasant Cemetery.

 

November 8, 1850  
Land Deeded for Hickory Withe 

Presbyterian Church 
Joseph Patterson deeds land for a Presbyterian church in Hickory 

Withe on what is currently the southeast corner of the intersection 
of Highway 196 and Donelson Road. The congregation likely 
worshipped in the Hickory Withe Academy until the church 

construction was completed.

April 20, 1850
Hickory Withe Presbyterian  

Church Established 
Prosperity Presbyterian Church is divided by Presbytery of Memphis, 

PCUSA into two separate congregations, one going to Macon and 
one to Hickory Withe. Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church’s first 

pastor is Reverend Robert McCoy.
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1860/1861
New Church Building 

Constructed 
The current Hickory Withe 

Presbyterian Church building is 
constructed on the land deeded by 

Dr. James Karr.

Marion Zellner 
Installed as Pastor 

1859
Reverend Zellner is installed 

pastor of Mount Pleasant 
Cumberland Church, and the 

church name is changed to 
Mount Pleasant Society. 

July 25, 1860
Land Deeded for New 

Church Building 
Dr. James Karr deeds one acre of land 
for the “occupation and benefit of the 

Cumberland Presbyterian Church.” 
This is the current location of Hickory 

Withe Presbyterian Church.

Nov 1861
Former Church Building Sold
The former Mount Pleasant Church building 
at Mount Pleasant Cemetery and all its 
appurtenances are sold to Nollies Chapel located 
on Feathers Chapel Road between Hickory 
Withe and Oakland where it still stands.

January 27, 1861
Reverend Syndey Smith 

Gill Installed as Pastor
Reverend Sydney Smith Gill is installed 
as pastor of Hickory Withe Presbyterian 

Church. He served as pastor of the 
church for 44 years.

June 13,1861
Presbytery of Memphis 

Exits PCUSA
The Presbytery of Memphis dissolves its 

relationship with the Presbyterian Church 
in the United States of America due to 

PCUSA’s allegiance to the Union.

1860

March 2, 1861 
Church Name Changed 
After a series of name changes, the Session 
resolves to request Memphis Presbytery 
of the Cumberland Church to change 
the church’s name to Hickory Withe 
Congregation as the location of the church 
is now at the center of the community.

August 15, 1861
Organization of Presbyterian 
Church in the Confederate 
States of America 
Eleven of the 45 presbyteries in the Confederacy 
including the Presbytery of Memphis meet in 
Atlanta to urge the formation of the Presbyterian 
Church in the Confederate States of America.

May 29, 1861
The Civil War has begun. 

PCUSA Affirms its 
Allegiance to Union 

Presbyterian Church in the United 
States of America affirms its allegiance 

to the Union at its General Assembly in 
Philadelphia, PA, with the adoption of the 

Gardiner Spring Resolutions. 

1865 to 1907 Period of Decline

February 3, 1889
Reverend Gill Organizes 

Oakland Presbyterian Church 
Oakland Presbyterian Church is organized 

by Reverend Gill under the direction of the 
Presbytery of Memphis.  Fifteen members of 
Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church transfer 

their membership to Oakland.

July 1906
Reverend G. H. Kirker 
Begins His Pastorship

Reverend G. H. Kirker is installed as 
pastor for one-half of his pastoral time.

April 9, 1905
Reverend Gill’s Resignation

Reverend Gill resigns from Hickory Withe 
Presbyterian Church after 44 years of 

faithful service.

Church is Dissolved 

The congregation of the Hickory 
Withe Cumberland Presbyterian 
Church votes to dissolve, and the 
membership is received into the 
Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church 
(PCUS).   

Merger Resolution 
A resolution is adopted by the Session 
of Hickory Withe Presbyterian 
Church to invite the Session of 
Hickory Withe Cumberland 
Presbyterian Church to meet and 
discuss a merger of the two churches.

1890
19001880

December 14, 1865
Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church 
Aligns with PCUS 
The Presbyterian Church in the Confederate States holds its 
General Assembly in Macon, GA, and changes its name to The 
Presbyterian Church in the United States (PCUS). Hickory 
Withe Presbyterian Church is under Presbytery of Memphis, 
PCUS until November 11, 1980.

December 4, 1861
Organization of Presbyterian 
Church in the Confederate 
States of America 
General Assembly of the South meets in Augusta, 
GA, and organizes the Presbyterian Church in the 
Confederate States of America.  By this time, 47 
presbyteries had severed ties with the Presbyterian 
Church in the United States of America.

May 6, 1865
Reverend Zellner Retires 
Reverend Zellner resigns as pastor of Hickory 
Withe Cumberland Presbyterian Church.

January 1, 1862
Reverend Zellner Serves 
as Civil War Chaplain 
Reverend Zellner reduces his time as 
pastor of Hickory Withe Cumberland 
Presbyterian Church to one-half. He 
is now serving as Chaplain of the 12th 
Regiment, Tennessee Calvary of the 
Confederate Army.

1870
May 10, 1907 

Churches Merge
Period of decline and financial struggles. It was very difficult to recruit 
and retain pastors due to the number of casualties during the Civil War 

and the subsequent Yellow Fever epidemic.

The churches unite to form Hickory Withe 
Presbyterian Church

1834 to 1861: Establishing Faith and Community
Mount Pleasant Cumberland and Prosperity Presbyterian are founded and 

establish the legacy of Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church.

The original Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church,  
PCUS merger resolution.

August 1861 New York Times 
article that highlights the 
Presbytery of Memphis seceding 
from PCUSA.

 

A Merger in Spite of 
Theological Differences
On May 10th, 1907, the Hickory Withe Cumberland 
Presbyterian Church merged with the Hickory Withe 
Presbyterian Church (Presbyterian Church in the 
United States – PCUS). The merger was somewhat 
perplexing due to significant theological differences; the 
Cumberland Presbyterian Church had an “Arminian” 
perspective on human salvation, emphasizing less God’s 
sovereign purposes, while the PCUS adhered to a 
“Calvinistic” view, highlighting the doctrines of God’s 
election and predestination.

Despite these disparities, the reasons for the merger 
remain unclear, as historical research fails to provide 
convincing explanations. Possible factors include a 
relaxation of doctrinal distinctives for unity, a post-Civil 
War ethos promoting unification, or a desire for peace in 
the community. Regardless, the merger took place, and 
Hickory Withe Presbyterian Church remained with the 
PCUS until joining the Presbyterian Church in America 
(PCA) in 1980.

The Cumberland Presbyterian 
Church located at Mount Pleasant 
Cemetery which was sold in 1861.

Cover of the minutes of the first General Assembly of the PCUS  
and an interior appendix page noting Reverend Sydney S. Gill.  

Below is the first entry of the 
Prosperity Presbyterian Church Session 
Minutes.  The entry documents the 
organizational meeting of the church on 
December 28, 1834, and is signed by 
Peter R. Bland, Moderator. 

Hickory Withe Cumberland Presbyterian Church which was constructed 
in 1860/1861.

 

1861: United in Prayer
May 24, 1861
National Day of Fasting, Humiliation and 
Prayer Proclaimed
With the first major battle of the Civil War looming, President Jefferson 
Davis of the Confederate States of America proclaims June 13, 1861, a 
National Day of Fasting, Humiliation and Prayer to Almighty God for his 
protection and guidance during this time of such great perilous troubles.

June 1, 1861
Reverend Gill of Hickory Withe Presbyterian 
Church, PCUSA Invited to Preach at a  
Joint Service
Session of Hickory Withe Cumberland Presbyterian Church requests that 
the Presbyterian congregations and the community unite to observe the 
National Day of Fasting and invites Reverend S. S. Gill of Hickory Withe 
Presbyterian Church to deliver a sermon on the occasion at the newly 
constructed Cumberland Church.

June 13, 1861
Joint Service to Observe National  
Day of Fasting
Reverend Gill preaches a sermon at Hickory Withe Cumberland 
Presbyterian Church in a joint service uniting the Presbyterian 
congregations and the Hickory Withe community in observance of a 
National Day of Fasting, Humiliation, and Prayer.

July 21, 1861
First Battle of Bull Run
The first major battle of the war, the First Battle of Bull Run, was fought 
approximately five weeks after the National Day of Fasting and was won 
by the Confederacy although 2,000 CSA soldiers died that day. Thomas 
“Stonewall” Jackson received his nickname during the battle for his courage 
as he stood like a stone wall during heavy Union assault.

General Stonewall Jackson was a Presbyterian 
and devout Christian as evidenced by the 
following quote. “My religious belief teaches 
me to feel as safe in battle as in bed. God has 
fixed the time for my death. I do not concern 
myself about that, but to be always ready, no 
matter when it may overtake me.”


